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cander of 6«th Fr, Instructor agaln at Akeno from 193« to 194c; >taff
0fficers School, from December, 1942 to Au,ust, 1943; Training Section,
Kola Hombu, from August, 1943 to April, 1945; akeno Hikotai, from
April, 1945 to June, 1945 Staff Officer, <0th ¥.C,, July and august
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OUMIARY

Colunel matsumae was interro.ated upon the following subjects:

1. Japanese army aircraft losses in the <nd Philippines Campaign.

5. Japanese plens ana strategy 1n the 2nd Philippines Campalgn.

%, The Japanese Pilot Training. Prog ram.

4, The oingapore Campal.n.

Colonel Matsumae's statements with respect to losses were maae largely
from memory ana further interrogatlon may be necessary in order te recon-—
cile them with other information. In addition, Colonel Latsumae is assist-—
in. in oreparin, the answers 0 the Militar, Anwlysis Divisilon qguestion—
airces reletive to the Singapore anc the Philip.ines campaigns and will

supplement the information given 1n this interrogation.

Major Maruta assisted Colonel Maisumae in answering questions about
the Japanese trainlng pro;.ramn.




_ ;@;‘m EMENT OF

LOSSES IN THE PHILIPPiIiES> CAMPALG

THE_PHILIPP LS AM'.PA1@ESE~

Col, Matsumpe reconstructed from mémqry:the following tables of Japan-—
ese Army asircraft strength, losses, reinforcements and replacements from
20 October to the end of the Philippines Campaign:

" STRaNGTH

Strensth ~ Iotal Operational - [Total Fighters erational Fightc
Mid—oSummer 1944 350 <00 | ‘*/
Barly Sept (prior
to 9th) 300 200
10 October 400 <00
20 October 300 150 - | .
1 December 300 150 100 75
15 December <00 100
1l January 120 60
15 March 10-12 5-6
Total Total Fighters Suicides

October 8090 <0
Novenmber 800/1000 500 150
December - 600 400 100
January 175 140 . 120

Note: Col. uatsumae stated that throﬁbhout the campaign, about one-

third of the losses represented aircraft shot+down, one-third those
destroyed on the ,round, and one-third those lost for other reasons,
cide planes were classified as planes lost in cambat.

Sl

ALLOCATIONS AND tBPLACHEMaNTS

Planes(l) Planes Planes Planeé

Keplacement WNew Units(R2) |
allocated Aarrived Arrived Arrived Planes Arrived /
from from arrived oo i
Japan . outside
Japan
Oct. 20-31 100 800 Yoh - 70D 100(3) 700 (4)
November 1000 800 750 5¢/60(5) 500/600 200/ 300
December 800 600 600 200/ 300 300/ 400
Januar; 120 100 100 40 80

(1) Except in October, this figure incluaes planes assigned to units

moving for the first time into the Philippincs ase well as planes

allocated as replacements for units already in the Philippines. |

(2) i.e. Planes assizned to units which had not previously operated

in the Philippilnes.

(3) From Japan.

(«) Half from Malaya, Netherlands Bast Indies. ' Y
(5) New units from bMalaya, d>umatra.

(First Session)

AIRCHAFT LOSSES

Colonel Matsumae_ﬁade the following statements b, way of explanation of the
above tables: | |

«+ When was the decision made to bring air reinforcements into the Philippines?

A. On 21 October, by General TOMINaGA, Commanding General of the 4th Alr Arnmy.
He ordered in 800 planes.

. where dia thesec planes come from?

A. They were brought in from Shanghai, Formosa, Malaya and Bornea.
R 1S




Interrogation #249 Cont'd -

.Iwo thiras came at. opce,. oth

;'I} .

qrs‘driﬁﬁeq_in;later, having been delgged by en-

gine failure, weather, ete.

¥ |
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Did these 800 planes come all ‘at once? = - - -

were thesc planes replacéménts”for‘ﬁniﬁs'élféady 0peréfing'in the Philippines
or were they entirely new units brought into the Philippines?

o about 700 -of them Were in units. For example 7 Flying Brigede (heavy bombers)

- _came from Sungei Patani, Malaya, via Labuan, Borneo, to Clark Field. —

left Malaya on 23 October with about 40 aireraft.
Dia any reinforcements come from Manchuria?
Manchurian units had come down in August.

Were any speclal arrangements made for the reinforecment of Japanese Army Air
units in the Philippines? | |

At the e¢nd of October Lt. Col. Murata, then a Staff Officer in the dSouthern
arny under Field Marshal Terauchi, went to Tokyo to sek about getting planes
from Army Air Headquarters. gHe requested 1,200 to 1,560 fishter planes a
month for the Philippines. Qf course he knew the profluction figures and it
woula have been useless forfhim to request more. Myfunderstanding is that
this request was based on : ing 300 serviceable fighter planes available
daily and it was felt this could be accomplished by the uwllocation of 1,200
planes monthly. Losses of iOO%a month were erpeeted. 1In November, Tokyo
allocated 1,000 of which 80D arrived, so tnat perhaps <200 were lost en route.

Some of these were subsequehtly repaired and sent §n down to Imzon.

A
when was it decided to Etar#fno ﬁloré, pliane_s to the ;%hilipptnes?

%
i

about 20 January 19&5._’?§tually none were sent i after about 9 January 1945

because taere were no sefviceable air fields.
{ *

~24 STAIKES Ok CLaRK FIEI)

" whnat was the efiect of the mid-Decembgr1strikeé on Clark Field?

Serviceability was not actuallx:reduced very much. The planes were thepoughly
dispersed and there was little need for maiatenance. On the other nana, of
course, dispersal vitally hindered operations.

When dia this dispersal begin?
Mbstl; after the B-24 strikés.
Did the B-24s destroy many aircraft on the ground?
Fér'mdre than fhé carrier stfikeé.
ATTACKS ON LINGAYBN

What planes were involved in the attack on the U.S, Forces en route to Lingayen
the first weck of January, 19457

Both army and Navy planes were employed in about equal proportions. About 120
Army planes from Clark Field were 1nvolved - all suicide. In view of the very
heavy allied fighter cover afforded along the coast, between the convoy and the
Cagayan Valley airfields, our planes could not penctrate to the convoy and had
o go around-—-either to the north over Cape Balinao or to the south over Cor—
regldor-—and attack the convoy from the west. Meanwhile, despite the allied
eover, there were very few attacks on the Clark Ficld area. These attacks
werc carried out over a period of several days and during that time 120 planes

were.committed and lost.
ARMY-NAVY LdA ISON

what liaison was there between 4 ailr army and the Navy air commands in the
Pnilippines? ,

-3~




Inferroga.tion' #249 Contd |
| L - 9.

aA. There was a comple interchange of copies of plans@@pf Moreover on each staff

there was a member of the other service. .

we Wwhen dia this interchange begini. .

A, At least by June 19&4. The interchange was betwuen thb &.Alr ATy a“a the
lst air Fleet and later with Combined Base Air Force. 4 -

SULCIDE ATTACKS

@+ When was the first au1c1ae attack'by a J&panese.ﬂrmy unit in the Phlllpplhds
Campaigul | ¢

A. 25 October, by a plane from the 24th Flying Rehlmgnt

.

G When was the first*suicide at tack By'a Japanese Army plane in the entire war?

A. 4 suicide attack on a torpedo was made by an army plane protecilng a convoy
in May of 1944 in the Java sea. Ip June of 1944, a suicide attack was made
in the Andaman Islands, with very successful results dnd the idea that this *
was the best way to destroy ships quickly spread throughout the Japanese aArmy
and Navy Air Forces. DLater in the summer of 1944, a plane of the Sth ﬁlJlnez

Regiment mace a suicide attack at Biak (New Gulnca)

Q. what was the first unit specifically organized. as a gigide unit?

i

A. The Fugaku Special Attack unit.

&. When was it organizedf?

A. In early October 1944,

Q. Where was itporgaiizédg_

A. at the Hamamatsu air dchool at Hamamatsu in Japan.

w. How was it formed?

'1

aA. Student pilots volunteered for the duty »
& whei was 1t given its uanefl

A. On arcival in the Philippines at the end of October by Geiieral TOMInata, the
Commanding General of the 4th Alr army.

PLANS FOR DiF3.5E OF PHILIPPLES

=l gl g

. what was your estimate of allied intentions as of May 1947
A, We thought the Allies would do one of two things:

(1) Invade Palau Islancs and from tncrc invade the %?lllpplﬂ:u at elbher
LeJte or Lamcn Bay. sl
or -
(2) Invade Morotai and from there invade tine Philippines at Davao.
Wwe thought that tue Phitlpplﬂc landings would occur in September or early October.
After the allied landins at Saasapor (30 July) we cunsidered the sccond alterna-
tive the more probable. AL

4. What was your plan for the defense of uorvtai and Palau?

A. Weo had no plau for the defense of Palau, but Morctai was to pe deicuded by
army plaies staging through Davau, attacking Morotai and landing at lManado.
Likewise plaines from Kendari and caZassar were to muve to ambon, whence they
were to attack Morotai and land at Manado. e started to put the plan into
operativn, moving headquarters of 2nd Flying Division from Negrus to dManado
and 7th Flyine Division frum Ambon to Manado. The day befure the first carrier
strike on the FLIlippines (1 e. 8 September) a naval luckout in Davac harbor
issucd a false report that the Americans were landing in Davac Bay. There-
wouin Wwe abanduicd our plans and withdrew all our planes from Maunade baclk to
Ne, rus.

7i4ﬁ
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What losses did the JAAF incur as a result ofithe 9 September carrier strike?

The first attack caused a loss of 200 Army planes - mostly on the'groundi |

What lusses did you sustain from the secund Qarrier strike against'Luzon,ébdut'
2l September? | ' '

we lost less than 100 planes, about half in fhe air and half on the ground.

What revisions dic you make in your estimate of Allied plans after thé'lsh "
September landing on Palau and Morotai?

We still felt the Allies capable of landing at Davoa, Leyfe or lamon Bay. The'

area north of Mindanao seemed more probable in view of .the Palau landing. at
this time we felt the landing could not take place until November sincc we
thought at least two monthe would be necessary for Allied preparations.

Was the Army or Navy Air Fdrce respbnsiblc for the defense of Mindanao?

There were dﬁlywﬂavy planes at Mindanao, but the army planes were to move dawn
if nccessary. | | | |

Did the Nawvy Air Force.agféé with the Army estimate of allied intentions?

I am not sure. The Navy was putting special cmphasis on the defense of
Mindanao.

when the carrier forece struck the Ryukyus and Formusa in the period 10-16
October were any 4th Air Army planes committoed?

N;o, except for 7 and 98 Flying Regiments which were under Navy command. When
the carrier force was withdrawing northeast of the Philippines, a few 4tn |
Alr arny planes were committed. |

What was the Japanese estimate of Allied plans after the 10 October carrier
strike on the Ryukyus?

We felt that the purpuse of this strike was to cut off the supply of planes
coming down to the Philippines from Japan and tou isolate the Philippines. This
confirmed our feeling that the landing would take place north of Mindanao,
pessibly at Leyte, Lamun Bay, aparri or on Fornmosa.

Did you regard the Ryukyus—Formosa carrier strike of 10-16 October as an im-
mediate prelude to invasion of the Philippines?

N., since we still felt that a landing would not be made until November.
What were your plans for the air defense of Leyte?
We planned to cperate heavy bumbers from the Manila-Clark Field area and fight-

ers and light bombers from the Visayas. We actually practised this aefensc
plan in, late August and early Septecmber 1944, |

What werc to be the principal targets of the heavy bambers?
Transports.

Were attacks to be by day or by night?

At dawn and Gusk.

What bumber strength was to be available?

a strength of 4 Flying Regiments of the 7th and 9th Flying Brigades. i recall

three of the four hggimentez" the 12th, 1l4th and 62nd Flying Regiments.

. were thousce 4 Flying_Regiments:ﬁctually in the PhHilippincs at the time of the

Leyte landings.

- Nu, the September carrier striltes had forced tne withdrawal of cur bombers to

Palawan, Malsya, and China. The 7th Fl,ing Brigade was in Malsya.
s




Interrogation %249 (Cont'd)

(Second Session) PHILIPPIVES CAMPAIGN: .

Q. At theistarthf,the»PHILIPPINE;GAMRAIQNt:what“was;the gengravhical
distribution of Army and Lavy planes? . ... . - 7 i

A. The main. fighter force »f the Fousth Air Army was in the MANILA and.
CLARK AREA and MEGROS. The medium bombers were at KUDAT, PUERTO FRI:'CESA ,
LIPA3 heavy bombers at MANILA, SHAWNGHAI and FORMOSA in general.

e Did. the Army have any streﬁgth_at MIEDINﬁn? 3
Ke -DPa

Q. ‘as the location of aArmy and Navy Air Units basecd en the differences
sn funeticn or on assignment to the defense of different geographical areasft

A. The vavy and Army had built theilr own air fields. The havy air fields
at DaVa0O, CEBU, ZAMBOA.Ga, Ta CLOBRAN and KICHOLS FIELD. .The Navy fields or
bases were considered the front line base in which they could carry oub patronl
and searches for the enemy and the Army bases were consid ered secondary. If
necessary of course, the Navy could fall dack to the armys fields.

Q. Were the 200Q planes lost in the first carrier strike, that you
mentioned yesterday were they Army planes?

A. AaAll Army planes.

Q. wWhere were those planes.lost, what areal

A, NEGROS, PANAY, TaKGAO TarJaY -AD Ca GaYaN.

Q. Jas this attack 2 suprise or had you oxpected it?
A. Just twe houra warning.

Q. Was that the first time the Fourth Air Army experienced an attack
by eur carrier Task Forcel |

A. Yes, this is the first time.

Loy Did. they have previeus informatinn as to the tartics and instructioas
ag te effective ceunter measures?

.. Some informeticn had been received frem the lavy sf thie tyope ot
attacks; end an attempt was mede to disperse the plenes, dbut they could not
satisfectorily accamplish this fQue to tack of strength and air field facilitles.

(. Were jou acquainted with the planes for the SEO-GO Operation?

A. That plsn was for both the Yavy and the aArny, a Jjoint operation. 'le
were acqyuainted with the pleans.

. In the plav for the SHO-GC Operati n, what mission was assigned the
Fourth alir army?

A. JThe army end the bavy had seperate functions in this plan. The
Ngvy wes to attack the Tesl Ferce and the army to attack the transoorte; 1n
the second stage, afisr the U.S. rorces had apvrcazhed closely. hoth the. aArmy
and wavy were to atteck transports. 1Lt was the cesponeibility of the ravy to
carry out cearches for the smerican Task Force.

«. Did the Feurth alr Army heve Fnowledee of the movements of the Jap-
ancse fleet? | )

A. Only two daﬁs before the battle did they have this news.

Q. Jas there any attempt to.coordinate the Fourth aAlr.aArmy plenes with
the Japanese Fleet? :

. e




Interrogation #249. ;(ﬁ.t!d.)'. o ot ' _

A, There wes no attempt to coordinete with the Navy Surface Forces
all Army planes were. attacking the transpceris. . .

-
L J

A. Roughly, they wé;é about the éame;'

Q. What was the reason for the division of effort between the Army and
the Navy planes;;tradixi;n;_plane design}or‘pilotatgaining?

A. It was due to the type of plénes and type of training.

. Q.. In vhat way did the Army and:-Navy training differ?

'-A;;?Due.to the fact that the Eavy7p1anes had a longer range, they were
trained in. search.:  However, when &here wes a. shertage of Navy planes; the

Army planes would assist 1n searching.
. . |

Q.' Were the pilots instructed to attack only transporté or could they
attack battle ships, cruisers, etc., that were with the transports?

A. Army pilots were instructed to attack trangports first, but if there

were none present; they could attack other types. The rcason for this was
that the army's bombs were not suitable for attacking armored ships.

Q. at th.s time were theoy still carrying outb coventional attacks or
was it entirely KAMIKAZE attacks? - '

A. Coanventional attacks at this timoe. 4

(. hon ddd the army begin KaiIKAZE attacks?
A. The beginning was by the ond. of October. 1t wag koown as the '

FUGAKU FORCLE.
e Duriang the progress of the :sca battle,, on the 265th, did the Fourth

Air army have information as t0 how those pettles were progressing; or‘gid
they only hear about it after 1t was all over?

A - N0 L was in NEGROSJétrthé time and got partial reports froﬁ the
pilots and from the Liaison Officer of the Sccond »ir Fleet. Therc was.
not detailed information end consqueitly no aseistance frem the army plencs

wag requcsted.

q. - In Novémber; thor. were attecks on our position in _BYTE by para-

chute troops, where did this attack come from.and what strongth was thercel

ja ecalled them the Sccond Parachutce Brigade.

" A. They canc from JAPAN.
Tho attack strength dropoed LEYTE was nearly

They came fo Clark end uipe.
300 troops.
+ Qe “hat dla thay expect that rald to accemplish?

A. The main purpose was 10 .occupy several air fields'South_of.TnCLOBaN,

11 coordination with a JAPANESE ground attack.
n, Did they have any report on the success of that operationt

4. o direect informatiocn came from them, but the army planes confirmed

that to0 air fields were occupied by themselves for two OT thrce days. The
sccond ourpose was to cause & diversion under cover cf which reinforcements

.night aporoach and land at ORMOC.

(» In November and carly December, several convoys Wers brought in

ORMOC, what was the name of that operation?

A, No particular name.




Interrogation #249 (Cunt'd)

¥

Qe Who plannc¥®he operation?

A. General YalMaSHTA.

‘

Ws das the oneration controlled by the aArmy?

>

A. as for as the air defense of convoys was concerncd, the army and
Navy operated jointly. G 3 |
\

Q. ias anyone in control o% the joint operations?

A. There was no one porson assigned to either davy or arny. It was
carried out by cooocration and constant liaison.

we Did you fpel thet the air protection, given to thes: convoys, was
sufficient? | : |

A. Extremely unsatisfectory and thefloss was very high. The scarcity
of plenes w=s most serious at that time end 'if I remember correctly; mly
four or five vessels out of somec 50 arrived s%foly at ORMOC and unloaded.

| —

» At what time did they sbandon the ides of defending LEYTET

4. I'm not sure; the decision was given av about the same time your
trooos laanded at S..a JOSH, - + ° :

w. Had you cxpocted us to nake our aext landing at Sal JOSET

n. They expected at NEGROS or ~abaY: or at the same time, CF later at
LEGsSPI. There vas some thought of an attack on NURTH BORWEO and on PauaWal.
Land to land movemcats were expected aftor the LEYTE lending ia all directions.

~ Jum> as long as that tc Mi*DORC was not expccteds

ﬁ xe When ‘our coavoy was sighted heading for Sal JOSE, what was youl
.ostimate of our intentT

Ao #he Convoy was sighted at the SULU SEa, but 1its objective was nov
koown until the landing. |

What forces did you send against this couvoy, with what results?
L. _.Dbout 250 army and Navy Planes wesc sent against this convoye.
Q; hat resblts did they got from.thaﬁ_attack?

4. The result of this att-ck was not very clear. All plenes attacked,
but no informetion was received back. Most of cur plancs did not return.
The only reports were by wireless from the planes saying, "INOJ iE ARB GOIXG
70 CR.SH." I, imagine that over 30 american vesscls were sunk. There was &
vorrior of american fighter planes stationed over BATAGAS STRAITS; which made
it very difficult to pass except, of coursc, at dawn or at dusk. American
plancs in small groups wers over the air ficld on LUZON, wWe were eble to
take off at such times as the; went away, but there was enother difficulty
i1 that the Filipinos hed some method cof signaling the american fightver planes
whon we were preparing to take of f vhich made 1t very difficult. |

%

w. about the first of January, what was your cstimate of our intentions?
4. oandings were expected similtanecusly at ~PAHRI, LI.G..YhRu, BaTallGAS.,

. 8 . . . . - w“ ™ s . A *‘ :
dhat prticular operational difficu.vies did you have by tic cnd of

-
the yeart

.a. o could not have any time tqQ repair the plancs beceuse in the day
time, american plencs were abov.e ‘them and the time for repairs was limited
to the nignt tine; we hed no good mcchanics because most of "thon were at |
LEGROS »rd we ked been unable to evecuate them; also the lack of spar.: parts.

-— e

. :_ 8 ._I




Interrogation #249 (Cont 'g

Q. When our convoy, in cariy January, apprqr.ch\—,,d LIl\.GAYEl\T GULF, how many
planes did you send against that corvoy? . -

A. About lOO to 150 dewy plares which was @ little more than Army planes.
Qe What targeta ware ag igned tq the pilot.. at this time?

A. They were ordypcd to attack the leading convoy with cooperation of
- Nevy plancs.

Qe Werso jhe attacks on the bomba®imcnt and ming ew.eper groups inside
of tho gulf mede gprinctpally by Army pfanes?

A. Fire} day it was mostly Navy planes; this Meason was beceamaze the Navy
planes could poneh #e gonvoy. The Army planes gade a mistake and agtackod a
transport geonvey., Al%tsr tho second day, they ati-ck3l all together. -

Qe Did ey have any assistance from plenes based at FORMOSA

A. Nu assistemce at 2ll from FORMOSA.

¢. I would ilfke to check the figures you gave yysterday, you said Fourth
Air srmy had 300 alrcraft in the Philippines i carly “ctober and received

tecal of approximacely 2300 reinforcements during the ampaigne Is this
‘correct? |

A. I thl"lk thats about right, not more than 2300 reinforcements, per—
haps a little lcss.

Q. How many planes did you cvactate from the PHILIPPINES?

A. 4ucss than 30.

Qs That comes out roughly at 2500 Army plancs loa+ in the PHILIPPINES
CAMPAIGLN, do you think it is a rcasonable accurate guess?

Ao That is about right.

Qe What was the most important cause of thése losscs cevering the
wholc campaign?

A. In the first stage; the most important cause was the eir raids and
tho bad condition of air fields, so thc loss in the first stagze wes about

2/3. The first stage is considorod from October to the middle of November
and the latter stagc the 2/3 came down to 1/2.

Q. What other cause was therc in lattor stage that was important?
A. Fight in the air and crashes.
Qe What $ype of air raid did they fear most?

Ae At tho beginning the serious demage was done by carrier air raids;
toward the end the morc serious damag: was from B-24 carpet bombers.

Q. In general, do you believe that the U.S. planes were better or Just
that there were nore of them?

As  do8. botter.
Qe Whica do you think was the best?
A. In bombers, of coursc, the B~29 outstanding; as for fighter planes,

the FOF was the best although possibly that is the training. Navy fighter
pllots were rmuch better trained than the army fighter pilots.

K. anong the Army fighter planes; which type did he think was the best?

sre P-Dl and P-38. Ve took the P-38 rore seriously since NEW GUINEA.
Wherc we had so much difficulty with P-38.

"




Interrogation #249 (Cont'd)
Q. When, in yo’cpinion. did thc -\'r,r?ar'_‘:-::w‘ing aga.t the JAPANESE?

A. I thin.k thet from thé heglmnng of 1943 . American attacks started.
The source of’ this iuforma-tioh 15 from tho Nﬂval Officers with whom I had
freque::t dlscussions. B _- E A it .
Q- As the war went on, whmh did they coﬁ's‘ide:n 'thb\ nost serious threat?
The move from Solonons and I\Tew Gfuniea or ’ohe Central Pecific’ ca,mpg,:xgn?
1i

A. Porsonally I thought thqt the movement :E‘rcm the South which threat—-
cnned to cut off our supplics and resources, we s the rost serious threat.

Qe Before our 1a.nd.i*1g on LEYTE 'did you at tnqt tlmo beliewe that you
could succéssiully defend. tho PHILIPPINES‘P | *

A. We thought that it was a 50 < 50 proposn.tlop_@xcept that probably
you could succecd in some landings, but we could also continue to fight in
various points. At the time of your attack on LEYTE, we were astonished th=at
you came so0 soon as our prepration wes not completed and so the condition

becane worse than 50 - 50,

Qe When was 1t decided to I‘OlI'lfOI'CG the P‘-IIuIJ:'BINES from M.*tNCﬁUBLL?
Ae. At the beginning of May On. 26 .nprll 1044 tho Sixth Flying Division

suffered very heavy lossecs at  EOLLANDIA and fer th:L... reason 1y was docided |
that the Philippines must he runforced from M,J...x*CrLRTA.

[ - .
H-I\O"‘ - , .




Interrogation #249 (cc‘) ' .
| TRAINING PROGRAM
(Third Session) S S S

Q. Before we come to the trainingy I would like to ask yeu (Col Matsumae)
a couple of questions on what you said the other day about the Philippines
Campaign. You said the 1ast'&me I talked to you.that en the 9th ef January
the Japanese Army Air Ferces had 120 aircraft in the Philippines. I wonder if
you meant 120 en 9 January or 120 en the first of Jenuary. You also said that
between the 6th ‘of January and the 9th of January. 120 planes approximately
attecked the task force epproaching Leyte and that many ef them were lost
before the 9th, so that, therefore, it's hard to see how there were 120 on
the Oth. I wonder if you could :clear that up?

A. On the 4th and 5th of January, planes attacked the Mindoro airfield,
and on the 6th started the attack on shipping in Lingayen Gulf. At that ¥ime
we had 120 planes including the replacements that came in. For the month of
Jenuary, I would estimate the laoeses at 170 planes. That figure of 120 planes
was for the first of Janumary.

&

Q. Another question has arisen in talking about your last week's an-
swers to our questions in respect to what were the Japanese plans on thé
30th of May and what were the Jepanese estimates of Allied intentions on %he
20th of May. I wonder if you could repeat approximately what you said last
week about Allied intentions in respect to the Philippines on the 30th of May?

A, ©@n the 30th of May the U, S. forces had just landed at Biak; there-
fore we thought that either they would strike North toward Palau, then over %o
Semar or Leyte, or proceed from Biak up to Halmahara, Morotai, or to Manado
and thence up to Daveo. However, the prevailing opinion wes that they would
take the latter route.

Q. Thank you. Now what was the Jepanese estimate of Allied intentions
after the carrier strikes on the Ryukyus which took plece on 10 October?

A, On October 10, Palau had alrecdy been invaded; in addition, Morotai
had been occupied, but the fact that American forces had gone to Palau made
us feel that the attack on the Philippines would take place somewhere in the
Centrel Philippine area. However, after the Taiwen (Formosa) sea battle,
because of the American losses in aircraft carriers that we had heard about,
we felt thet the invasion of the Philivpines was not imminent.

Q. Did you actually believe the report that the Japanese Imperial
Headouerters had put out about the so-called Sea Battle of Formosa, and wase
your estimate of the sea battle on that?

A. In a sense we did. While we did not teke the regular communique as
being the truth, our reports indicated that losses hac been fairly heevy.
However, after the tettle of Formosa, the American forces retired towarcs
the Philippines, and beceuse of the intensity of their air attacks, we did
feel that their losses had not been too great.

Qs -What was your next duwty after you left the 4th Air Army - your next
assignment?

A, Officer in Charge of Training at Air Headgquarters.
Q. Pilot training?

A, Yes,

Q. And you had supervision then over all the Japanese Army Pilot Train-
ing Schools, both in Japan and outside of the country? Is thet right?

4. I had no actual jurisdiction over training ot the verious airfields.
My duty wee to supervise the training program. After seeing action in the Phil-
ippines Ceampaign, I was called back to Tokyo to Air Headquarters in order to
prepare training progrems whereby we would benefit from the lessons learned
in the Philippines Campaign,

5 O




Interrogetion ¢ 249 (contd)

i 4b0ut_,-vfha.t:-."_!did you' take up these duties.‘\vhodt time?

4

ﬁw Febfﬁafy 26, 1945,
Q. And how lomg-did you hold that position? 2k *

A, Untill the end of Merch., I shall now explain something about the
chain of command in thia(trainihg'program;.Myjbureau'had”directWCOntrol'over
the activities of the various Kyodo Hikoshidan; in addition, it controlled
the activities of the various technicel air depots (Kenkyujo). In addition
we supervised the training program for the various Kokushidan under the Koku-
gun,

Q. So that in substance you controlled the flight tralning program
vhich wee maintained in the Kyodo Hikoshiden and you supervised the flight
training progrem which wes maintained in the Xyoilmu Hikotel and.the Reneel
Hikotail and the Renshu Hikoteir? e g .

A, That is correct.

Q. Did you cease to have any connection with the training'program'after
the end of March 19457 : o

A, After the end of March an organizatioﬁJwas set up which was mown
as Koku Sogun and I took over the ssme duties as formerly in this new organ-
izational set-up. ‘ el

Q. How long did you continue to be connected with the training bureau
of Koku Sogun? '

A. Until the 24th of August, 1945,

Q. So that from the 20th of February, 1945 until thé end of the wer
you had control of the flight training program of the Kyodo Hikaoshidan and
general supervision over the flight training program of the Kyoilou Hikotal,
the Reushu Hikotai, and the Rensei Hikotel? s . 2 % Vs |

A, Thet is correct.

Q. This included training unite in the southern érea?_

A. No

G. It included only training units subordinate to the Koku Soguni

s, That is correct.

Q. In other words, treoining unite in Japen proper, Mernchuria , Korea,
ond China? | - , o

~.» H#, That is correct,
Q. You never haed juriediction over the trrining units in Formosaf
Ny . . "
Q. Were there any training ﬁniﬁs in Formoéa durine this peripd?
A. Prior to the formation of the Koku Sogun, there were unite in Formose ,

but subsegquent to thet they were diesolved, These unite were under the control
of the Formosa 4ir Heodquarters. 6 e Tl TEP g .o

Q. Were they under the control of Et: Eikoshident

A, Yes,

~

- G. How many aircraft were assigned to the.troining units under ‘Kolmu Sogun
ot the time of the orgaization of the Kolu Sogun?

NS,




Interrogation #249 (co‘) SRR G .’ i
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A, Ahctuelly, the number designated for training purposes Wos 2wout 2000
planes, Wut those that were actually operational were edout a thousand or
less. By "

Q. Of the 2000 planes assigned 10 the Koku Sogun training organization,
how manmy were combat type planest - g | &g -

| 'A;__I would say’approximately.a_thousand planQS,'but fhis‘includsd many ,
many, old types and those that were actually capable of fighting were extrem-—
ely few. | .

Q. What was the principal elementary treinert.

A. The KI-86 (Jungmann trainer) and the type 95 Markli troiner.

Q. The KI-97

A., I don't remember.

Q. How many elementery trainers? i
A, Approximetely 800 planes in woth types.

Q. Those 800" included in the 20007

A. Yes: a thousand planes were combat types and about 800 elementary
trainers, |

Q. How many KI-797
4., Around 100. -

Q. How many KI-54Y
A, about a hundred and fifty.or:sixty planes, 1 believe,

Q. Do you have any records of those figures or are ycu.reconstructing
them from memory? |

A. Whet I am now telling you is from memory.

Q. Did you have any idea of the number of training planes not under the
jurisdiction of the Koku Sogun in the southern areal ‘

A, The aueta wae 528. We were unable to send reflacéments from the
' Empire, hence as a rough sstimate I would say there were not more than 308
planes. '

Q. These are just training plenes, or do they include combat typee o8-
signed to training unitst?

A. Up to and including the type 97 fighter only,

(Col Matsumae stated that he would consult with Col Mateuzewd and if possible
would obtain more accurate figures on the aircraft training unite.)

Q. How many aircraft were assigned - taken ,- from training units under
your jurisdiction or under the jurisdiectjon of Kou Sogun and assigned %O
special attack units between the time of the organization of Koku Sogun and
the end of the wert? |

A, Out of these 2000 plenes, I would say-approximately'500 planes were
eent from the training unite of Koku Sogun to special attaclt units.

Q. So that at the end: of the war there remained something in the niegh-
borhood of 1500 aircraft assigned to Koku Soguni | |

A, That is correct.




Int erroga’cion # 249 f"xtd)

Q. How amy plenes did you receivel These 2000 plahes were one8 you had
when you took over; how many additional combat planes were assigned to Koku
Sogun between the time you took over the organization and the end of the way
by the way of replacement?

A, We 4o not have the exact figuree on that becruse that is in Col
Meteuzawa's posseseion, but we will inquire of him and get you the figures,
While I do not remember the figures, my assumption is that there were wvery
few replacements,

G. In other words, ordinary wastage which took place in the training
units was just about replaced‘by new alreraft -or aireraft from depote?

A. I believe that t&king the entirenorgaization of the Xoku Sogun theat
we did have 1500 planes, but it must be realized that maybe only 500 of these
were actually in operation.

Q. How many planes assigned to the training units of the Koku Sogun
were destroyec by Allied air attack between the time of its orgeization and
the end of the war?

A, I believe it to be under 50 planes.

Q. How many operational and other loeses - acesidents, etc?

A, I am eble only to malkke a rough estimate of this because our figures
on operational losses include those in the southern regions and all operation-

al losses in combat uniss also, bﬂt_l would estimate eur training plans losses
to be approximetely 50 planea a month of which a portion were repairable.

Q. In whet stage of training and with what types of eircraft did you
suffer the most difficulties?

A. I would say thet the type 97 fighter losses were the gremtess.

~

G. You said that fewer than 850 planes were déstroyed by Allied air attacks,
Wag that over the whole period or just for a month?

A. The whole period.

Q. At the beginning of the wrr, how many flying hours did a pilot have
when he left a training unit and wrs assigned tora tactical unit?l

A. Three hundred hours.

Q. That is when he enters a2 tecticel unit after having left a training
unit? .

A, At the beginning of the war fighter pilots would be sent to tactical
units with ebout 200 hours of flight time and then would have approximately
100 extra hours before sent out on combat.

Q. S0 thet the minimun level of experience of a Jepanese fighter pilot
in, let us say, the 5th Hikoshidan at the time of the early Philippines Cam-
peign in 1942, wes about 200 hours?

A, Thet ies correct.

Qs AT the minimum wes 200 hours what would be e out the aversge flying'
hours? | |

A. A chmutaicho would have about 800 hours and a sentaicho about 3000 hours.
Q. How about the ordinery fichter pilot?
A, We figured thet-was about 600 ﬁours.

. What was the situation in respect to bomber pilots? Was it about the
seme as the fighter pilote? What was the difference, if any?
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A, It was ebeut the same, I believe, but because of dual controls on a
bomber it was hard to estimeste what their actual flight time would be.

Interrogati on # 249 (cont ,

Q. Are you a fighter pilot or a bomber pilot (eeked of Col Metsumee)?

A, A bomber pilot Megor Neruta is a fiﬁhter pilot

i e,
1

QF:‘HOW ebeut reconnaieance pilete?

A, - about the same,

®
e g % . - : . r
g" . Al L] 2 l. ¥ . ' t
- - . 4
-

Q. Now at the time ycu entered.the Kolu Sogun. in cherge of trainlng,
vhat were the average flgures for minimum flight time by. fighter pllote

’ '*asaigned to tactical units?

A. When they graduated from this school the Eenteicho had about 1400
hours, the chutaicho hed about 400 hours, while a fighter pilot had about a
hundred hours. - _

¢
Q. Do I'underetand.that et the time a fighter pilot was 'aseigned to 8.

tactical unit from a %$raining unit in March 1945 he hed,hed only 100 hours
flying time? -

A, That ie'coﬁfectl
Q. &And before he entered combat did.he have any more flying timet

A, Perhaps 20 or 30 hours but thet*would be all, I might add that
because of this fact we picked only those pilots whom we belived to have
poesibilities and gave them further training in interception tactics whereas
the ones thet did not seem to be particularlv good we shifteg ereund to spe-
cisl attack units, ; | _ | g3

Q. Why wae it that the time given pilots in the tralning program before
they were assigned to tactical units dr0poed during the war?

A, Three factore entered. into this: First was the fuel problem; second-
ly, the lack of plenes; and third, the necessity of producing pilots rapidly.

Q. When did the fuel problem firet become acute?

A, October 1944,

Q. When did the shortage of airplanes become acute?

A. asbout the same time; in other words, after the Philippines Cempaign
started, | - |

Q. And when was it decided thet pilots h-~d to 5e trained with great
rapidity? ,

A. The need was felt first about October 1943.

Q. So thet between the beginning of the war and October 1943 the gen}
eral level of pilot experience remained about the same?

B, Approximetely the seme level.

Q. The caliber of pilots remained at epproximately the same level until
the time Raboul wes hemmed in which would be about autumn of 1943, and at that
time you suffered heavy losses of trained.pilots? -

A. That is correct.
Q. ‘Wae there any change in the treining progrem atb thet time?

A. There wes no sudden drop but little-by little we cut down the flying
heure._ |

Q. Now, what wes tQF general level of pilot experience at the time of
the beginning of the secod Philippines Campaign about the first of September
19447 How many flying hours were given e.pilot when he left the trein1ne |

1.




Interrogation # 249 (.'xtd)

unit and entered the tactical'units?

A. I would say that the average run of officer: pilots had about 170 ..
hours and.pettynofficer pllots about 120 hﬂurs, whlch.wauld g1ve us average
about 150.. '

Q And they received training in tactical units before they were ac-
tually sent to combat? If 80% hOW'much? : 0l

| A, No, this figure that I have glven you is the one that they have imme-
diately prior to going into combet. ~ .

- Q. Pilots then were sent into combat directly efter having'left train-
ing units in the Philippines? - g .

A, That is so0,

Q. Refore this time, were pilots ever sent into combat directly from
training unite?

‘A, Never before the Philippines Campaign.

Q. Before the Philippines Campaign - immediately before - how much

additional training would a flghter pilot have before he entered combat afte
he left a treining unit?

A. Yes, they roceived flight training.
Q. How much before going into combat?
A

About D0 hours.

Q. When you went back first to Koku Nombu and then to Koku HSogun after

the dissolution of the 4¢h.Air Army, whet changes did you inaugurate in the
training program?

A, We streséed attacks on shipping.

&. Before this time what particular tactic had been stressed by the
training commend?

A, After the experiences of the Philippinee Cempaien, I stressed tie
fact that all planes, including fighter, bombers, etc, should be used for at-
tacking shipping rather than fly their particular roles in the scheme of

things. In other words, we ptanned to make all types of planes into speciai
attack planes.

Q. In effect, then, you stopped traininz fighter pilots to intercept
Allied bombers and fichters and turned your training program into & program
for training pilots to attack ships?

A, 4&s I mentioned before, this does not necesaarily mean that we did
not train fighter pilots but that we spent the first portion of the training

program in training them to atteck shipping and went into attack, intsrception
etc. in the later stages of the training progrem, '

Q. But in fact, you were interested in building 2) cduﬁter—shipping air
force rather than a counter-air-force air forcet?

A, That 1is correct.

Q. Outline the course of the flight trelnlng praescribed for the average
fighter pilot at the time of the end of the.Philippined Campaagn and at the
time you took over supervieion and control? -

£, Before I left the 4th Air Army and took over supervision. of tie train-
ing progran, 20p of a bomber pilot's training time wes devoted to landlng and
talte-offs, 28% to acrobatics, and formation flying, 12% to navigation and
cross-country flights, and.40% to regular bombing practice. After 1 took .
over supervision of the training program, only 15% of & bomber pilot's traine
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inz time wrs token up with lendin. end trlke-offs,. 20% was devoted to acro-
betics and fornation flying, only: 8% to cross-country, ~nd navizetion train-
inz, and 57% to the practice of attacks on. shlppinp, principally by "Hell-
Diving", Preporation for bombing attoacks, or the orthodox level bombinz at-
teck, ceme at the very end of the course and occupied only a very short part
of the tine. One reason for the smphesis on dive-bombing was the inedequacy
of the Japenese bomb—sizht whiech did not .allow any precision in level bomb-
in. . another reason wes that dive-bombing teectics lend themselves to speciel
attecks or suidide attacks, and about that time the Comandins General of

the Koka Sosun announced that all pilots,. without exception, rust conslder
themselves members of Kamikaze units,

Interroceotion #249 (contg

L “

Q. What chences did you make in the fraihin% pfoaram for'fiahter pilotse?

s, when I took over the training progran, 25% of a fizhter pilot's
tine was devoted to landing and teake-offs; 55% to interception practice; 8%
to navigzation gnd cross -country flyint,.and.laﬁ to borbing and strmflnﬁ.

Q. Did the bombing and strafing treinins which took place.before you
took over supervision of the training program include dive-bombing practice?

Lh o YOS, it did.

Q. When did you first introduce any treining at all on dive—boﬁblnr
with fichter planes?

4., dust before the Philippine Gampaigﬁ - about June 1944,

G« Will you continue your statement of how‘you chanced the trainine
progrems when you took over in February 194567

A, When I took over the traing program I directed that 25% of flghter
pilot!'s time should be devoted to the practice of landings and takeﬂoffs-
38% to interception, 8% to navization and’ eross—-country flying, and 35% to
the practice of bombing and strafing, with prticular emphasis upon dive-bomp-
ing. The reason for this increase in the percent of flizht fime devoted to
dive~bombing was the same as hes been stated in respect to a similar increase
in the dive-bombing time of a bomber pllot., Because of the shortage of bomb-
ers it was necessary for fichters to attack shipping as well,

Q. Now, I believe you stated that at the time you cane to Xoku. Sogun;
the averace time given a fighter pllot in trainine schools before joining a
tectical unit was spproxinately 100 hours, Is that correct?

Ha' LBB, that is correct. :

Q; Was it necessary to shorten that time during the period between the
end of February 1945 and the end of the war? | :

A, Yes, there was such a nececssity.

';;Qﬁ How much was it shortened?

A, nfter'July 1945 they beﬂan 8 sfﬁiy a8 to whether theéy could shorten
this hundred hours down to 80 hours which neans a 20% decrease, They studied
but didn't esdrry out ‘their plan.~

Q. In other words, they never di& & |
. e No,+they never did it.

Q Why was it necessary to further re&uce the ninber of hours =iven in
training unite? : -

A. Gasoline problem.,

Q. Thet outweighed all the'other feaSOns?.'That:WPa the nmost inmportant
fector? g s T s | -
| X ; """'l 7!_ |

‘ -
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A, Only gaﬁoline.; _ g .' | L9

Q. Did you ever use alcohol as an aviation fuel in training during this period?
A. They used pleﬁty.

G. When did you begin using alcohol for aviation fuel in training?

A. Since after April 1945--beginning in April 1940.

G- Was alcuhol ever used in combat aircraft?

A. They had such a plan tu use alcuvhol in combat aircraft beginning August of
this ,ear but they never carried it out.

Q. In what types cf aircraft was alcchoul used as a fuel?l

A. Alcochol was used in training in all types of trainer aircraf® and in the KI-27
and KI-36. It was not uscd in any other types of combat aircraft although
there was a plan for such use.

(Interview at 1215 was adjourncd to 1330 hours. Additionally present aftcer Tre—
suming at 1330 hours: For the U.5.a., Major JOHN SHIVELLY USMC, Interpreter.)

&« There are a couple of things I'd 1like tu ask you about what you sald this
morning just to clear the recurd—--things that buthered me-a little as 1 was
thinking about them: You said that tnere were three factors which limited the
Japanese training progranm, one. of whicih was fuel, one was a shortage of trained
pilots, and the third was a shurtage of adrplancs. Now when you said taat
there was a shortage of airplancs which limited the training prugram, did you
mean curmbat airplancse cr training airplanes? .

A. The pruduction of airplanes 1in this (prugram) was tu cover the luss of Opera-
tional uanits——not to supply the luss in training units but only to cover the
loss. in the theatre i war.

& In uther wurds, production of cumbat aircraift was sufficient tu cuver cunbatb
logscs aud nut sufficicnt to replace training losses? 4

-h"l'L- Tllclt ib 11it-llt ®
% Sou that the shurtage was in cumbat planes and nut in training uvnes?
A. There was a siuvrtage of combat aircraft.

Ge In othier words there was a shortage of combat aircraft for training purpusest
A. Beecause of the necessity of turning over as many planes t0 operations as
possible, it was in the operational aircralt that we found a sacrtage for
training.

G. Now anotiier question that I had in mind which arcvee from what you sald tnls -
mornins ¢ You szid that at the ce¢nd of the war you had about 1500 plaies as—
signed to the training units of the Koku Sorun of which only 500 were vpera-

o

tional. I wonder what was the reason for that low rate of serviceabllityT?

A. They had 2000 and of thuse 500 were scnt to spccial attack units. The 1500
were the remainder, and the condition of thouse planes were nov su soul 8u there
were unly 500 aircraft scrviceable. | |

Q. In ctiicr words the best plzies were scent tou the Special attack Units?

A. Of the 2000 planes they had, they touvk the 500 vest ﬁlaEEEland turrned tiem
over tu uperational units. That left the 1500 wourst plancs, and of tiaosc
unly 500 were usecable., That is Just 25%, but had theyifigured the whole thiag
there would have been 1000 planes cut of the 2000 or unly 50%.

Q. Now, I'd like tu v back tu a different surt of subject and talk about “thev -
nunber of pilets you Lad during the war and whcther they werc of & LImivany: «

ik B




L]

factor in your operations. Du you have any idea how many piluts Japanese
Army Alr Force had on the 7th of December 194l-—the beginning of the war?t

Interrozativa #249 Cont'd ,

a,. I.don't remember.

Qe Du you remember whether there were enocugh pilets to man all the planes that
the J&paubbe ALY har Force had at that time?

A. Just einvugh fur the plancs.

& You had no mure pilots than you had planes?

A, Nu surplus. .

Qe .About'thé-saﬁélﬁumber of piluts as plahea?

A. Abuut the sanme.

Q. JYou don't remember how many planes you hadf?

A, Approx1ﬁatelyl1500 aircraft. ‘
Q. and .yvu say you had just abuut then 1500 pilcts——or 1500‘air-c¥éws probably?
A, 1 é;uld;S;J £hc pilots 14‘the tuneatre of the war approximately <000 aand the

piluts in variovus tralnln& schuuls and groups, 1000, so altugether approxi=
matcls 3000. | . e Naiot

w."ZOOO pllots in cumbat units and approximately 1000 plluts in training?
A. 1000 piluts in training means insjrdctorgdana pilots in training schouls.
w. How many trainecs were there~~how many student pilots? -

a. The whule clarse lasted -uie year: six months for primary course and anuther
8ix nvntns for advanced course. New trainees entered the group or unit twice
in & year. There would be about 1500 in a claes, ur about 3000 graduates in a
year., - - . & ¢ oy ,

Qe In uvther words the trainiing program put vut 3000 pilots in 1942 so that on 1
January 1942 yuu had about 2000 pilots in tactical units ready tu fly,. about
1000 instructurs, etc., in the training organization, and about 3000 trainces
of whem 1500. were in advanced training units aund would graduate as fully
trained pilote at the end of the first six months of the year and the remain-

ing 1500 would graduste at the end of the year?t

A, Yes, that'!s currect.
Q. That is the way it was un 1 Jamuary 19421

{4t this p@lﬁt Cul MATSUMAE counsulted with Maj MARUTA and constructed a table

showing the number of graduates frun the advanced flyinh Bcnuuls v the fullowing
d.a‘be.s-) TRL

| ) Number'of
v Date . ﬁllot Graduates
31 March 1941 1009
30 Sept 1941 1530
Al March 1942 1500
30 Sept 1942 1500
31l March 1943 X500
30 Sept 1943 1500
31 March 1944 4500
31l July 1944 6900
30 ‘Nov 1944 | - 4000*
31 March 1945 - By 3000
31'July 19<5 " 3000

*Notes Oyt of a class of 6500 culy <000 braduated because of the basulinu4pro~ |
blen and shurta L= uf training planes.
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How many pilvts was it plained to train i the class whiech would acrmally have
graduated on 30 Noverber 19457 ‘ - .

Three thousand.

As we understand these figures, they represent the number .f pilets which
actually graduated in training units. Undoubtedly more piluts entered the
trainin, units. What was the percentage of pilots whe entered the trainin,s
anits and whe, for sume reasun ur vther, were never qualified? %

Th.ose whu entered the trainin: schoul were 1500 sc 10% cut of 1500 were oot
guitable tu become pilots. 4 .
In other words the fijures which:you have.juap:given'us'arp not fisures of
pilot graduates from training schecl but o¢f pilots entering the training
sclic.1? . o

‘ i

The .raduates are 1350 instead Lf 1509,'
I1s 1941 the. on 31 Mareh, 90% of 1000--~in Lther wurdé, 900——~pil.ts oraduated?
That is right.

Now dis the perceintage of pilots whe were nct qalificd vary from the begin-
nin: tu the end of the warst et s ‘g

There was No changue; but in general the ability our suitability t. be a pilct
for thoese 3000 at the end of the war was lower than at the beginning of the war.
Ten percent wnly were eliminated as in the beginnin, of the war; so that the
average ability was lower than in the begiuniiil,

But, novertueless, you were forced tu accept 90%?

Yes, althow.hh the quality of the naterial diminisiied toward the cua of the war,
we continrued tou graduste 90% of thuse whu. eitered..

Are those people who entered the elementvary f1lyin, schucls cor the people eni-
terin, advaunced flying schouls? | .

They cut 10% in the primary c.urse, not in the advanced ciurse.

I the advanced c.urse, they qualified everybody that entered - it?
Ag a rule they didn't cut any’, put there wes somé erception, in the advanced
trainin;: cwurse. PR BT TR

In the advanced trziaing course there were substantially nce washouts?

. #
-

That is ri,ht.

-
-

Now une other thin; that we haven't cuvered. Wwere there any losses. for ovther
reasons such as accidents, sickuess, ete? . ¢ | '

. ' -
The ten percent includes all couses.

Physical coenditiuil, disability, accidents? Everything?

The tea pereent divides into categuriééi acoicents or sickness, less that e
percent) uver nine percent, qnauitability; ‘Accidents during the primary i
periud were practically nil, aurin, the advanced trainin: we lust one ur twe
per class. = = |

One or twy per class—-—a class of 15007

We would Lave une acclident per unit within the class——ten units within the
clags—~—s. that there would be ten or 1o in a class ui-1500.

In the latter stages through the Kyoiku Hikotai and prior t¢ the stage of
the Rensei Hikotail, is that 1t?

~20-




" A, .Up.to the end..af 1943, the system of training ineluded first the
primary course and the secund couurse in the Kycviku Hikctai. = They changed the
pyetem in the beginning of 194« to classify into threet the first, primary
training; secund, so-called Kyoiku Hikotai, and the third called Reusei Kikotal.

Interrogation #249 (Cumt“

Q. ~Now, was the accident rate in the Reusei Hikctai tnwﬁﬂéuthe prdpof the
war higher than it was in the Kyoilkm Hikotai during the same pericd? '

A, Yes, that!s right.

Q. Approximately what was the accident rate in the Reusei Hikutai in
194> tuv 1945 during the time they were cperating?

A, Here is an example! In 1944 there were 1500 cases of accident, includ-
ing all types, even the very mimute defects—for example, a whekl—including
minor damage tc a plane where there was no¢ injury-—including all accidents.

This is in 1944, and in Japan proper and Scuthern Asia; in all of the Japanese

A Air Forces it was 1500, Out of 1500, they had 300 cases in the primary course
and Kyoiku Hikotal and Reusei Hikotai of which 50 were in the primary, 100 in
the' Kyoiku Hikotal and 1560 in the Reusei Hikotail,

4. Wae there any change in those accident rates——-the percent of accidents
in training either in the primary or the Ky.iku Hikotai or the Reusei Hikotal
between the beginning of the war and the end of the war?

A. Yes, there eas a tremendous change.

(C6l MaTSUMAE 'and Maj MARUTA at this point cunsulted and prepared a graph indi-
cating that the :total repurted aecidents suffered by aircraft in the Japanese
Army air Forces frum 1540 tu 1945 , includin, minor accider te, wasfas follows!

1940 oo 800
1941 400
1942 -~ 500
1943 870
194+ 1500
1945 1300 (up to 12 august 1945)

(Ccl MATSUMAE explained that the fizures included accidents reported to Kolku
Hombu only and that ordinarily an accident would be reported only if a replace-
ment was required or the airplane had to be sent tu a shop for repair.)

Q. You said, as I understand it, that the Japanese Army Alr Force, at the
begiuuing of the war, had 2000 trained pilots attached to tactical units and 1000
trained pilots serving as instructors in the training organization. You also
said that in Octuber of 1943 the pilote situation became critical; that it wae
therefore necessary to reorganize the trainiag program and to cut down Lhe
number ¢f hours which were given to student pilots. Aoproximately how nany
pilots-did yuu have assigned to tactical unite in October 19437

- A, At the time of October 1943 there were 2500 pilotes in the units and
in training echools——-that mgans instructors and assistan#s-—-—one thousand. The
2500 figure met only 80% of the demand for pilote by all air uwnits. The
number of units was becoming bigoer and bigzer so that we could onl; supply up
to 80%; the demand was blgger than the supply,

Q. Was the reason for the demand an inerease in aircraft producti.n or
was it losses which had been sustained in the Solomons campaign?

~A.. The most important reason was the scale of operations as a whole——
Southern Pacific, Northern Pacific, all theatres of war——the scale of operatiuns
was becouming bi.er and big er. That was of most importance and secund, after
the Solomons battle the army Air Forces cuc perated Wlth the Navy air Forces.
& In uther words, -in Octuber of 1943 the Japanese army Air Force cuitem—
plated expauding its operations and couperating with the Navy in tie Sclomons

catnpdign’

o




Interrocgation #249 (Cont'd)

- r

A. Yes.

Q. Were operations of the Japanese Army alr Force during the first year
of the war——-this is the year 1942---ever curtailed because of a shortage of
pilots? | D RS

A. Yes, because cf the shortage of pilots es well as planes. Not only the
pilots, but shortazes in-both pilots and vlanes. For example, we hacd such an
experience in 1942: we had olanned to:.send Army Air Force units to the Solonmons
area, but beczuse of the shortage of pllots and planes wg didn't carry out this
plan, until after October 1942, so that it was delayed. ancther experience was
thet of Calcutta,  Indias the plan to ettack Calcutta in the middle of October
1942 was prohibited-——not permitted by Gencral Headquarters—--only because of
tac shortag, of pilcts ond plences. That is one of the plans which wasn't carried
out.. '

Q. . When did you first hit Calcutta? t
A, The plan was originally on a big scaie.. ~8 the rosult of deotaching
most of :he pilots and planes for the campeign in the Sclomons, the remalader
in Burme wes very small. We did carry out, only once, a small attack, far from
the originel plan. |
Qe Was the shbrtége of planeS'cvnsidardd rnorce seriods ﬁhén,thﬁ shortage
of pilots, or was the shorte<o of pilots considorad more sorious then the short-
age of planes? What was the limiting fector? | 2

A. Planes were mcre seriocus th-n pilote.

&
b

Ge a8 1 understand it, after October 1943 ycu coxpanded your trainiaig
>rogram in view nf the shortage of pilots. at about the same tima, as I undor-
stand it, the production of aircraft was 2lsc exponded-—-is that correct?

| A. Yos, you are right. In additicn, the loss in New Gulnea wes very,
vory big. |

G. Loss of planes or pilcts?
Ao Pleziics,
e You lost more plenes thon pilets in Now Guina?

A.. Ycs, and it was a vital problem et that tine,

Q. Sc that in april cf 1944; at the tino of the leoss of Hol .2ndie, you
had mere pilsts than you had plances? . | +

&, Yod, you are righh; thero wes a shortare ¢f la.ocs. EBspeclally ~fter
april 1944, it bocanc iwst serious. Tho ceirplsng problem becane m.re .sarious,
more end more, then pileots, especially after April 1944, ;

Go. bt this time, huewever, you were concorneéd because you hzé had to cut
down the time in trainingz given to pilute, is that corroet?  You had plontpy of
pilcts, but their quality was falling off, 1is thet the eosrrecet situaticn?

4. Your u.dorstandine is right. -In adfiticn we oxpocted moroe production
cf .lanes sn we had bie plens for supplying nore pilc ta~——say about 6000 ;.
but afterwsrcs wr found thet planc producticn bocane worse £id wvorse, eud we
cut the nwtbor of treiness,  The last of the threoc class-s 1n 1944 was cut fronm
o proposed 6500 to 4000, = - ¥ -

-

-

(Col. MuTSUMAE drew a pencil zravh indicating that the actual oroduction of
sircraft fell substentizlly Wolow the ple-ned productisn of aircrefdt; wheress the
actuel productin of oilcts more uncarly kopt pac~ with the olanned priduction of
nilcts,) _ T

Qs In other wrrds, yru heve previrusly aiven e reeg né-f-r.the reduction
in the number ~f pilots trained in.1944: shertage of fuel 2ud shortage of
treinins aircraft. Now yru 2re sdding o third roes'ni The exilstonce »f mere
pilots than c-mbat planes? ) B

e
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Interrceatison #249 (C- nt'

A. Yes, and thc shortage cf trainers 2s a regult of the shortege cf pro-
ducti o sc thet mambers 2 and 3 run into the same roazson. - i

e Dif ﬁhe_air.éttacksréﬁitﬁbJPhiiippineglwhichbegan abut the firstof
September 1944 have any effect upor. the training units which were operating in

the Philipninres?

A. There were four changes in ocur tactics: first, tc attack the allied
Task Frrce with the_énbperation of the Jepanese Navy air Ferces Seccnd, Jap-
ancse bombers, which are nct so powerful ageinst carriers, had tc be located———
cr relocated—--ii Borneo, Sumatra Malaya, etc, Peyond the range ~f carriers
Third, disperaal had tc be carriod. out; and Fourth, mass cmploymecat of fighter
planes, not by single grcups, had t¢ be carried. rut againgt carricrs.
the lesscns, I take it, which ycu learned eas 2 r.sult o f
New what I really meant rather than that wast! there

neg and I thought that they were
suffercd losses,

Q. Those were
those carrier strikes.
wore cortain training units i the Philip.ol
either cumpelled to meve or they atopned their training, cr they
and I wanted tc kucw what offect that had upen the training unite end upcen the

Jepanese training prcgran in generall

First of all, thcse training units in the Philippines were ferced to
Secondlypy speciel training was

After auzust 1944 we

J..‘i.. .
move to Malaya, Jeva, and tc French Indc—China.
ziven in the lessons learned in the carrier attacks.
axpected attack by allied cerriers snd began t- nove the training wilts.

after the invasicn of Leyte Which tock plame on 20-2l October 1944,

warse any nilots who had been trained in the Philippines cr in the area scuth
. f thc Philipsines ever brought beck to Japan cr brought ncrth of the arca in

which they were training and attached tc units in the Japan rased Air Fcrcef
In other words, after the invasicn cof Leyte, did: the training ever nroduce pllots

who flew Ffor the Japancse air Frycoe in other than the. scuthern arca?

There w-s nc idea to trausfer cr to revlace these oilots fronm the

& 5
aveon after the invesicn of Leyte.

Fhilipnines and cther socuthern areas tc Jaan,

Q. In cther werds, the invasi-n of Leyte cut thcge units off frem the nerthi
As No, pleinly nct. We intended tc use them in oooraticne in the scuth,
8.11.“9»:‘; Se | I
were being traindd in tho Fhiliowines and in the sruthern area
side the scuthern arcal

Before the invasion of Leyte, was it ever intended tc use Jilets 'who
any pl2ce out-

A. aAs & rule they hed a ssk pelicy tc train the silcts in the arce to
which they were gcing to be assigoned. Only a few exccootirns—~—that is, the best
silotg-—--were.sent to Javen eas instructors. The reescn f£or having the training

units in the south was that thpey were close to the source of fuel.
| , /P _

Wes there ever any policy in the Jajancs» air Foree ¢ rotate pilcts
s 1.ng while back to Japan for rest?

(0
oG, bring those who had fouzht for

ﬁ*'--l--

A.* Yes, wo had such a plan, but it was nct carried cut, In other wcrds,
nilots were sent ¥ack to Japan 1in cege they lost their »lane or the jype of
plane nad changed, to bring beck new types ~f plene or new plerncs. about one
monthe lcave was given to those pllots when they came bock. te Japan,

- ' Qs -Was . there ever any linigatl n nlaced by the Japaicse £Army upcn the
length ¢f service in combat that the pilcts should havel

A They had nc-regulaticn at all. Of course we thought thet it might be
better to-heve such a regulation, with authority tqlcarry_out such necessary

rest or leave.
Q. But ther: never wes such & rogulationt

4. They hadiﬁb regulation atall.::Thoy wanted such a plan But h2d never
been able tc put it inte effect. | . e

SO
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Interrogation #249 (Cont'd)
Qe "Ehey“—-méaling-the-pilots-AWantéd it, or tho 4th air arny, or what?

A. The Staff officers of Koku Hombu as well as thoe Scuthern army and I
had such idecas.

Major MaRUTA: The Cemmander and seni r cfiicers at Kol Bombu alss had
such idees. .

Q. Why didu't thoy put the idea into effect?

A. DNo replacements. In adlitinn the Japanesc ~ir Forces were sc busy
snd were constantly being driven all the time from the vory beginning to the
end and even after the war,

Q. Y- u said that in 1945, at the ond o»f March, 3000 gqualified pilote——
rr rather, 90% of 3000 apvroximetely, or =bcut 2700 pilots—-comdleted tholr
flight training and were ready tc be assisned to unilts for combat. Hcw many

of thoee 2700 wilots were assigned tc rezular tactical units 2nd how many to
the special attack units?

A. 30% nf 2700 were assizned to special attack units., The others, 70%
went tc other units——air defense units and ordinary operctive units.

Q. Annther group of pilots graduated frim flying schcel cn aporoximately
31l July; is that correct——say 2700 c¢f them. Actually how meny of them were
assizned to special attack units =2nd how m-ny to tactical units?

A, The same proporticil,

e We can add these fizures together and find out how meny pilots the
Japanese forces had at the end of the war, But all these figures are apirox—
inate, end we wonder if you can state the number of pilots that they hed at
the end of the war—~—=how mauy in tactical units, how many in gpecial ettack
vaite, how nmany instructors, =t the end of the wart?

A. after all, therc-were some casualties. The grand total nf pilots,
ineluding oven General pilota; 8800 grand totals -The Kamikaze, 2000; tectical
uaits end cthers, 5000; in training zroupe end schools, including instructors
and assistant inetructérs, 1000; 800 in hosnitals. The 5000 pilots 1in tactical
and cther units were also trained for special attack; so if you call the 2000
nilote Special Attack pilets, you must alse cell those 5000 pilots i.. special
attack units. The vilots in special attack units were those trained only for
spceiel attack. I might say these 2000 pilots in so-called spocial attack
units were trained cnly es far eas primary treining for diving and no mere; 1in
zoneral, further training was tc have been given 1o all nilots; but i certain
cases when we were suffering frem scarcity of petrcel and planes, they were
only trained for the primary diving and nc more.

Q. How many hours of training were given tc the silots in the special
attack units?

A. Minimu, 70 hours; aversge, 100; maximun, 300, for the leaders in
the special attack units.

Q. This moraing we asked you how many hcurs you gave t. pilots necar the
end of the wer before they were assigned to tactical units, and the =snswer,
I believe you gave, was 100 hours; is that cerrect?

A. Yes, — 120 or 130 hours.

| ke There is cne more thing: What were the totel casualtics of Jaal
pil&ts fron the begi1ning tc the endf

A. Total casualties durine the period is 11,200.

(.« How many would you have tc adc 1if you tock inte considerati-n the
mernbers of 2ir crowsi Navigators, Boiberdiers, Guaners, ete?

A, A large number, (Ccl MATSUNAE agreed to furnish these figures at a
later date wheuw he had time to accurstely coiplle same) .

— b




Interrogation #249 (Cont' d’

G

ydﬁ learn to fly?

:

Weld like to ask the Cclonel a little more about his ~ereer!

When did.

In 1937 at Tokéfozawa; theﬁ-Hamamétsu. I started training in December

A
1937.
Q. When did you it 4}
A. November 1938.
 -Q. Where were you agsigned for duty in November after you finished flight
training? :
A. Fourth Sentai at Tachilaral.
Qe Whatftype bf.aircraft did you fly when you were attached to the Fourth?
Ao Typé’97 LiahtiBbmﬁar. | - -
Q. When did the Fourth Hikosentai get KI-48s?
A;‘ 1959; -4
Q. How long were you-with the Fourth Hikoseatal?
A; Seven. nonths, -
&. and then where did you got?
A. General Staff Office, Steff Headquarters, in Tokyo.
Qe Duringwhat period;;ére ;;u:at the General Steff Hesdquarters?
A o ﬁntiiIOctobkr 1941. Then”I ﬁent foGeneral Armj Healquarters, southern
region._
Qe Wheré was thatf
‘.3; Séigoﬁ; éfterwafds,moved teuSiﬁgapofe.'
a2 Q; Whaéﬁwere your duties when youuméﬁt t Saigﬁn? .
Aﬂ"nirLOperatioﬁ@ éectign. )
Qe &At.that tinc did you have any plens for operaticns in Malaya?
IA. ilgg, sir,
Qs When did you forrmulatc the plans-—at what tilme--when you were‘ﬁﬂp

Tokyco »r when yocu were down there?

A

Qo

A

Before I left Tokyo.
That would be in the surumner of 19417

Thegdeternination of the plan was given in Novenmber 1941, The plan

was forrulated by September' 1941 but was not put intc effect until December. I

The first tine I heard of it was at the end of October 1941,

Of course the

studiee woere going on before that date.

e -But the first time you heard the studies were to be put into effect
was in October? -

&e

cial study started in July.
arca the middle of aurust,

I heard abcut the plan by the end of October. It was rather an offi-
I mysclf went to Maleya to atudy the arca the
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Interrogation #2349 (Cont'd)

|

‘Q. Wherabouts in Malaya did you wo?

A, PFirst of all I inspected the Malay peninsula and French Indo-~China,
and. Thailarnd to inspcct the airfields snd determine their cepacity for Japancse
Air Units; to the Saigzen arca, Bengkok arca. The Japanese Army sir Forcos
were located in French Indo~China, but not in Thailand.




